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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

RALPH JACKSON, etal.,
Plaintiffs,

V. Civil Action No. 12-2065 (JEB)

TEAM STERSLOCAL UNION 922, et al.,

Defendants.

MEM ORANDUM OPINION

As any buyer of a new car knows, driving ofé tt typically triggers a feelingf
buyefs remorse. In other words, once we know there is an opportunity lost by a de@sion
make, we often feel pesiecision regretPlaintiffs, eight former employees of Gialdbod LLC,
who have brought ‘ehybrid’ claim under the Labor ManagemeRelations Actlleging
wrongdoing by both Giant and their Unioragpear to suffer from a serious case of bgyer
remorse with regard to the severance package they accepted when thesjooeecgmpany
laid them off. They insist that had they known tieir decision tapt for severance pageant
they forfeited the right to be placed on a recall list, which might hdweedatl them an
opportunity to be rehired within six months of their termination, they would not haeptad
such payments. Giant intins that the choice posed by the severance package was clear, and
that Plaintiffs are precluded from suingpe companyby the releases they signed.

In bringing this suit, Plaintiffscontendthat they are not bound by such releases because
Giant only induced them to sign througiaterial misrepresentatiansAs causes of actionheay

allege that the two Unions of which they were membdrscal 730 and Local 922ailed to
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adequately dischargbeir duty of fair representation in negotiating the terms of the severance
and release, and that Giantermination of them and subsequent recall of other employees
violated its collectivebargaining agreements with the Uniorig. an earlier @inion, the Court
ruled that thesewvo claimsare interrelated, constituting oleybrid’ claim against both Giant
and the Unions, all three of whom are Defendants in this suit

Defendantseject Plaintiffs narrative andasseiihg that the material facts at issue are
undisputed, haveeparatelymovedfor summary judgment.Concluding thatGiant made no
material misrepresentations related to Plaintif(deaseagreements and that their waiver of
claims is thereforealid, the Court will grant thearnpanys Motion. In addition, ad’laintiffs’
hybrid claim isdeficient the Court willalso grant the Unionsviotion, putting an end to this
long-running conflict arising fromP laintiffs' choice.
l. Background

While the Court well knows that facts on summary juelginshould be considered in the
light most favorable to the neanovant, it also notes that, pursuant to Federal Bu@vil
Procedure 56(cparties“asserting that a fact cannot be or is genuinely disputed must support the
assertion by . . . citing toapticular parts of materials in the rectrdnd the ©urt “need
consider only the cited materials, [though] it may consider others in ¢bedie Fed. R. Civ. P.
56(c)X1)(A), (c)(3) Inthis case, Defendants have submitted -pdge Joint Statement of Facts,
Plaintiffs have responded with187-page Response, and bgileshaveeachsubmitted more
than 60 exhibits. SeeDef. JSOF (ECF No. 130); Pl. Respto JSOF (ECF No. 141).
Phintiffs’ fiings, in addition to being voluminousgre riddled withtypographical errors and
incomplete sentencefsequently confuse argument with faahd often fail to identify precise

record citations to support their claimi.is notthe Courts duty to mine the recofdr every



relevant evidentiary temSeePotter v. District of Columbja558 F.3d 542, 553 (D.C. Cir. 2009)

(Wiliams, J.,concurring. Where“a party fails to properly support an assertion of fact or fails to
properly addess another party assertion of fact. , the court may . .. consider the fact
undisputed. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(€}); see alsa.CvR 7(h)(1) (explaining that Court may assume
thatnonmoving party'admitted facts it failed to*controvert in its response or oppositipn In

other words, the Court will decline the invitation to fill in flkeral blanks left by Plaintiffs

briefing. See, e.gPl. Resp. to JSOF, 14{"Plaintiffs furtherincorporate by referendbeir
responses in response tof®dants allegations in paragraphs , as if fully pled h&yef130

(“See Ex___"). With these principles in mind, the Court recites the facts reldwatst

disposition of Defendaritdlotions for Summary Judgment.

A. Parties an®etting

Plaintiffs in this case areight former employees of Giantvhich operates a chain of
grocery stores located in Maryland, Virginia, Delaware, and theidDistr Columbia. SeePI.
Resp.to ISOF, 1 1. Whie employed by Giant, Plaintiffs were memberoié of two unias,
Local 922 or Local 73@*the Uniong). Id., § 2. Until 2011, Giahé retail stores were supported
by two distribution centers located in Jessup, Maryland: orférémti’ groceries and the other
for “dry’ groceries.|d., 1 6. The freskfoods centerincluding a recycling faciltywas operated
entirely by Giant, buthe dry-goods compound was only partially operated by Giant; the dry
goods regcling facility was run by the company, but the -dgods warehouse wasn by a
subsidiary of C&S Wholesal€ompany. Id., 11 78, 15. All of the Plaintiffs worked at one of
the two recycling facilties.Id., 19.

In previous years, Giant had operated a variety of facilties in suppdstsibies-

including its own dairy, bakery, and the likebut at the time of the events at isstiie company



wasfocused more on the operation of its retail grocery storesrastteamlining its operations,
reallocated or laid off workerdd., §16. Inaddition, inJune 2012, C&S closed the eljgods
warehouse it operated in Jessup, Marylam] relocated those operations to Pennsylvania,
leading to a number of layoffs, including some members of Local [EB0Y 19. The parties
agree that Giant learned of tidnnedclosure in April 2012 and made some efforts to prepare
for those layoffs, though they dispute precisely what actioeie vaken and whei., 1120-24;
those disputes, however, are irrelevant to Defendiftaions.

In a memorandum dated April 26, 2012, and addressed to the entire Giant Distributi
Team,Giants Vice President of Distribution Operations, Mike Sdofprmed the Team of the
dry-goodswarehouse closure and indicated tt@iaint was stil assessing the impact of C&S
decision” Id., 126. This memorandum was posted in s@ngloyee break roomsld. Giant
ultimately concluded that, after the C&S closutie would be more efficient to operate oripe
recycling facility instead of twbd. Id., § 29 (citing Def. Exh. 1dECF No. 1322) (Deposition of
Bilye Pounds Giant Senior Manageof Human Resourcgsit 46:316). Becausémultiple
peoplé had been doing thessame work at the two separate faciities, Giant expected that after
their consolidation, it would not require as many employe®seid., T 32; Pounds Dep. at
55:1056:10. The parties disagree about how Giamrived at that expectation, whether its belief
in the reduced need for employees was reasonable, and other such detddsntifiist Point to
no testimony indicating thasiant did rot “believe that the consolidatioof the two warehouse
would . . . mean that there was going to be less work for employees”toPdmnds Depat

55:1315.



B. Negotiation and Termination

In late May and early June of 2012, Giant met with the leaders of Locand30ocal
922to discuss the effects of the faciltiesonsolidation—what the parties refer to a&sffects
bargaining. SeePl. Respto JSOF, 34-46. Ritchie Brooks, President of Local 73hd
Ferline Buie, President of Local 922greedhat the two Unionsvould jointly negotiate with
Giant during tk effects bargainingld., T 39, 46 Atleast one meeting between 8wnd Giant
was attended by fivef the Plaintiffs. Id., § 43.

The Unions sought to convindgiant that the layoffs were not necessary, the number of
laid-off employees should Hewerthan the compang predictions,andGiant should engage in
a $50,000 voluntary buyoutld., 1149-51. The Unions succeeded in bargaining down the
number of laieoff employees @t not on their other demands., 1 50. The Unions then
requested severance pay for #ifected employeegr, in the alternative’recall rights, meaning
the right to be placed on a list for potential rehire, based on serfolidyying termination of
employment. Id., 51. Asto severam, he Unions asked Giant to provide two weeks of
severance pay for each year of employment with the company, but Giaad &gnly one
week per year of servicdd., 152. As to recall,ite Unions asked that those employees who
decided not to accefite severance package would have recallsift one yearld., 1 53.

Giant and the Unions disputed whether each Usi@ollective Bargaining Agreement with the
Company already gave Union members recall rights, and Plaintiffs anddaefe continu¢o
dispute what the CBAs requiredd., 11 5457.

Ultimately, the Unions and Giamtgreed to @&everance package under which affected

employees would have the optieitherto receive up to eight weeks of severance pay, depending

on their years of sex& but with a minimum of two we€ksay, or instead to be placed on the



recall list for six months.ld., 1 58. If they chose the latter option, they would stil lose their
jobs, but would be eligible for rehifeGiant recalled any employeed.he company agreed to
reduce its number of layoffs to eight employees from Local 730 and twelve eegpliypen
Local 922. 1d., 1 81. This agreement was later memorialized in two Memoranda of
Understanding. SeeDef. Exh. 33 (ECF No. 1383) (Local 922 MOU), 34ECF No. 13314)
(Local 730 MOU).

During the effects bargaining, leadership of Local 730 and Local 922 had reghasted t
the Unions, rather than Giant, be permittechtorm their members about the layoff, and Giant
acquiescedld., 162; see alsdef. Exh. 1 (ECF No. 131) (Deposition of Michael Scott, Giant
Director of Warehousing) at 112% The Unions held these meetinfyjem the beginning tthe
middle of June 2012.1d., 11 6364. What was and was not said at those meetings is the source
of some dispute, but the parties agree that representatives frons Glaman Resources
departmentand Distribution Servicedivision attendedid., 164, and that Union members were
informed abat the impending layoffs and severance package that had been negotiated on their
behalf with Giant.Id., 1165, 74 The parties do not agree whether the Union leaders toth U
members that, should they choose to decline the severance package, they wauldderph
recall list for up to six monthsld. In addition, information was provided to the employees who
would be laid off to help them find new employmeridl., 167.

At the request of Union leaders, Kelli Hall, GianHuman Resourcédanageror her
associatenetindividually with each of the twentgiffectedemployeesfor approximately ten
minutes eachnd provided them with copies of the Separation and Release Agreement they
would need to sigii they choseo receive severance palgd., 1187-90. Although Plaintiffs

maintain that they did not understand the terms of the Agreehhelhinaintains that sheead



the separate Acknowledgement of Receipt of Separation and Release Agreeintaud to each
of themand gave them copies bbth documentsinformed them that they had foifiye days in
which to determine whether or not to sign it, enagasl them to consult with an attorney before
signing it, and explained that, as required by the Older Workers BerattcBon Act of 1990,
employees had seven days after signing the Agreement in which to revikefit92. She
states that shexplained that they would receive the severance pay within two Webéyg
decidedto signthe Agreementld. After meeting with Hall dl Plaintiffs then signed the
Acknowledgement which set forth in writing this information SeeDeclaration of Kelli Hall,

Exh. 1 (ECF No. 30-4) (Plaintiffs’ Signed Acknowledgements)The Acknowledgement also
explained that the terminations had been datechpursuant to the seniority process in the
Collective Bargaining Agreemenasd that employees should not sign and return the Agreement
any earlier than three days before their last day of wiatk.

The Agreement itself containedid provisions oBpecid relevanceo this litigation. The
first is aparagraphentitled “Rehire” teling employees that by signing the Agreement, they
“hereby agree not to knowingly seek or accept employment, whether directly extipdmvith
the Company . .. or any of its operating companies or affiiates. You fagnee that your
execution of this Agreement is good and sufficient cause for the Company tsdffifiates to
reject any application you may make &nployment or remployment. Def. Exh. 2 (ECHNo.
1305) (Plaintiffs SignedAgreemers), { 10. The second is"€omplete Release of Claiins
paragraph explaining that employees

fuly release, waive and forever discharge the Company . . . from
any and all administrative claims, actions, suits,ar .liabilities of

any nature . ., whether known or unknown, arising prior to the
Effective Date of this Agreement, including, but not limited to . ..

all claims arising in law or equity or any claims arising under [a
variety of federal and state stabmy and commotaw causes of



actior] . ... You expressly agree and understand that this General
Release means that you are releasing the Released Parties from all
claims, whether known or unknown, . .. and whether or not the
claims arise out of your ngployment with or termination of
employment from the Company . . ..

Id., 1 3;see alsad., T 4(“Pursuit of Released Claif)s

All of the Plaintiffs signed the Agreementld. They agree that they had the opportunity
to review the Agreement prior to signing it, though they maintain that they dighdetstand all
of t. SeePl. Respto JSOF 1 110. Only one of the twenty laidff employees opted not to sign
the Agreementld., 1108; see alsdHall Decl, 17 (explaining that Frank Manieri told her he
wanted to be placed on the recall list, and she told him that he should ndtesfggréement if
he wanted to preserve the option of being recalled). The parties do not agree ahauamha
advice the Unions gave the employees about whether to sign the AgreeSemte.q.Pl. Resp.
to JSSOFST 11112. No Plaintiff revoked or attempted to revdier Agreemeniwvithin seven
days of signing it, and all Plaintiffs reced their severance payments in accordance with the
terms of their Agreementdd., {1 114-15.

On June 29, 2012, a massive storm known ‘defecho’hit the Washington
metropolitan area, resulting in the loss of power to more than sefe@fgnts stores in the
region Id., 1119. While the parties disagree about the impact of the storne dedsup
facility’s operationsid., 1112021, it is undisputed that Giant chose to reedltst on a
temporay basis and then permanentithreeemployees on July d@nd then hiredwelve
additional temporary employees in the days afterwbtd{912325 Plaintiffs maintain that

Giant knew or should have known that the July 4th period would be a busyemnu#ing

additional workersbutGiant insists thiait had no plans to recall or hire new workers prior to the



derecho.ld., 11 13-26. Neither the eight Plaintiffs nor any of the other employees who signed
the Agreements were among the recalled employéasy 127.

C. Grievancs, NLRB Chargeand Litigation

In early July, Plaintiffs learned sbmerecalls. Id., 1 128. On August 16, 2012,
members of Local 730, including Plaintiffs Tiffany Cherry, Christopher Mynded Sharron
Foster, filed &group grievancewith their Unioncomplaining that their layoffs violated the
Local 730 CBA.Id., 1137. On the same day, members of Local 922, including Plaintiffs Donna
Ward, Donchez Coates, Linda Mathis, Wiliam Christopher, and Ralksda, also filed a
“group grievancewith their Unionraising the same complaint with regard to their CBd&,
1138. A joint letterfrom both Unionswasalsosent on Plaintiffs behalf to Giaris Human
Resourcesdepartment, accusing the company of improperly laying off Plaintiffs amnesting
thatthe Companymeet withthemto resolve the grievancdd., 1139. The partie$vigorously
dispute whether the grievances filed against the Unions were timely atitewtieey were
handled properly by the Unionsee, e.g.id., 144 but ndther Union processed the grievance to
arbitration. 1d., 11146, 149. After receiving the grievances from the Unio&ant denied the
grievane of the Local 730 Plaintiffs by letter datddgust 26, 2012, arithe Local 922
Plaintiffs’ grievance by letter dated August 29, 2012., 11144-48

On November 17, 2012hosePlaintiffs, through counsetogetherfiled three unfair
labor-practice charges with the National Labor Relations Board: one each agaikbtidhs and
one against Giantld., 1152; see alsdef. Exh. 4546 (ECF No. 1345, -6) (NLRB Chargek In
their charges against the Unions, Plaintiffs claimed that Local 730 aatl 92% breached their
duty of fair representationis-a-vistheir termination and severance packageheir charge

against Giant, Plaintiffs claimed the compamplawfully’ terminated their employment by



inducing them through threats and coercion to sign the Separation and ReleaseehtpcSee
Pl. Respto JSOF, 1153154. The NLRB Regional Office then conducted an investigation into
the chargesd., 1156, which included interviewing six of the eight Plaintiffi., 1 157.

By letters dated January 31, 2013, the NLRB Regional Director, Wayne di&olissed
the charges against the UniorS8eeDef. Exh. B-57 (ECF No. 13416, -17) (Letters Dismissing
Local 730& Local 922 Charge) (“The investigation failed to reveal any evidence that
employees were coerced into signing severance agreements., Ratlesdence established
that the Unionsimply informed employees of their options regarding severgndgold
similarly dismissed the charge against Giant on the sameSgsmpef. Exh. 55 (ECF No. 134
15) (Letter Dismissing Giant Chargé€) be evidece obtained during the investigation
established the Employer notified the employesdiectivebargaining representative of its
decision to conduct the layoffThe Employer then bargained over the effects of the layoff with
[that] representative The employees were selected for layoff by order of seniority; and, they
were provided with two options, (1) sign a severance agreement and. waigeall rights or (2)
accept simonths of recall rights. . .Your allegation that the employees were threatened and
coerced into signing the agreements also lacks evidentiary stjpport.

Plaintiffs, unsurprisingly, appealed the Regional Diréstalismissals to the NLRB
Office of Appeals. SeeDeclaration of Rthie Brooks, Exh. 8 (ECF No. 1:38) (Feb. 19, 2013,
NLRB Appeal Acknowledgmeiptatl. On April 17, 2013, the NLRB Office of Appeals affirmed
the Regional Directds dismissals of Plaintiffsthree charge$substantially for the reasons in
the Regional Dectors letters of January 32013.” 1d. at3 (Apr. 17, 2013,NLRB Denial

Letter).

10



Shortly aftePlaintiffs filed their NLRB Charges- but before those chargesuld be
adjudicated—they filed suit in this Couragainst Giant and the Unions§eeComplaint (ECF
No. 1) filed Dec 27, 2012). The Complaint asserted six causes oinaatidsought monetary
damages to compensate for lost wagesefits and emotional distreseeinstaterant to their
positions at Giant; attorney fees and sogte-judgment interesi@nd punitive damagedd. at7-
16. With leave of court, Plaintiffs subsequeritlyd a 68-page Amended Complairthat
asserted eight causes of actibreach ofthe duty offair representation bthe Unions (Counts |
and Il)and six counts against Giamcluding breach of contract (Count 1l1),
“misrepresentation’{Count 1V), fraudand constructive fraud (Counts V and Vhetrimental
reliance” (Count VII), and retaliation (Count VIIl)SeeAmended Complaint (ECF No. 39).
Defendants thenmoved to dismiss the Amendeai@plaint and alternatively sougtgummary
judgment SeeECF Nos40-42.

On Februaryl2, 2014, tis Court issued an Order granting in part and denying in part
Defendantsmotions. SeeECF No. 53.1n an accompanyingMemorandum Opinignthe Court
dismissedall of Plaintiffs claims against Giant except fone:breach of contractJackson v.

Teamsters Local Union 92291 F. Supp. 2d 71, 86 (D.D.C. 2014) fulther concludedthat the

breachof-contract cause of a@oh wasin fact only viable as a claim under section 301 of the
Labor Management Relatiosct, and so should proceed under that statisteat 81. The Court
also held that it was premature to enforce the waiver of claims agaamstitGthe Separation
and ReleasAgreements given that discovery had not yet fully fleshed out the circumstances
surrounding those releasds. at 8283.

The Court then examined Plaintiff§ 301 claimagainst Gian&and their breacbf-duty-

of-fair-representation claimsgainst the Unions and concluded that these did not stand higne

11



were, in fact, pled as“aybrid sectior301/fairrepresentation suit against both Giant and their
Unions” 1d. at 81. As this hybrid claim was sufficiently pled to defeata motion to dgntise
Court permitted that sole cause of action to proagainst althreeDefendants Id.

The parties next traveled througire discoveryphase during which they had a number of
substantialdisagreements over deposition testimony and expert witheSsesackson v.

Teamsters Local Union 922, 310 F.R.D. 179 (D.D.C. 2015) (striking portionsadyees

errata sheetbiat made substantive changes or contradictions to prior tiepogestimony);

Jackson v. Teamsters Local Union 9R®. 122065, 2015 WL 11023790 (D.D.®ct. 26,2015)

(denying Plaintiffs motion to reconsider Coust prior ruling on errata sheetdgckson v.

Teamsters LocdlUnion 922 312 F.R.D. 235 (D.D.C. 2015) (denying Plaintiffaction for leave

to supplement expert reports). Eventualy, Defendants each moved for gujpmiganent. See
ECF Nos. 128 (Local 922 MSJ), 129 (Local 730 MSJ), 130 (Giant MSJ). Thosm#/atie
now ripe.
. Legal Standard

Summary judgment may be grantedtiie movant shows that there is no genuine dispute
as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment asea ofdaw” Fed. R. Civ. P.

56(a);see alsd\nderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 2448 (1986);Holcomb v.

Powell 433 F.3d 889, 895 (D.C. Cir. 2006). Afactnsaterial’ if it is capable of affecting the
substantive outcome of the litigatiorSeeLiberty Lobby, 477 U.S. at 24&jolcomh 433 F.3d at
895. Adispute iggenuiné if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict
for the nonmoving partySeeScott v. Harris 550 U.S. 372, 380 (2007ljberty Lobby 477 U.S.

at 248;Holcomh 433 F.3d at 895:A party asserting that a fact cannot besogenuinely

disputed must support the assetftitwy “citing to particular parts of materials in the re¢ood

12



“showing that the materials cited do not establish the absence or presagenoine dispute,
or that an adverse party cannot produce adreisghidence to support the fdct-ed. R. Civ. P.
56(c)(1).

When a motion for summary judgment is under considerafidjine evidence of the nen
movant is to be believed, and all justifiable inferences are to bendhmatvis favor. Liberty

Lobby, 477 US. at 2555ee alsdMastro v. PEPC(447 F.3d 843, 850 (D.C. Cir. 200@)ka V.

Wash. Hosp. Ctr156 F.3d 1284, 1288 (D.C. Cir. 199&n(bang. Ona motion for summary

judgment, the Court museschew making credibiity determinations or weighing thidesmce’

Czekalski v. Peterd75 F.3d 360, 363 (D.C. Cir. 2007).

The nonmoving partg opposition, however, must consist of more than mere
unsupported allegations or denials and must be supported by affidavits, dedamtiother
competent evidenceetting forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issueafor tr

SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(eelotex Corp. v. Catre77 U.S. 317, 324 (1986). The nonmovant is

required to provide evidence that would permit a reasonable jury to find fawbis See

Laningham v. U.S. Nayy813 F.2d 1236, 1242 (D.C. Cir. 1987).

[11.  Analysis
Plaintiffs’ “ hybrid’” sectiorn301/fairrepresentatiorclaim is compsed of twagarts: A
claim againsGiant for breach of itgollectivebargaining agreemen{CBA)and a claim against

the Unions for breach otheir duty of fair representationSeeCephas v. MVM, Inc.520 F.3d

480, 485 (D.C. Cir. 2008|citing DelCostello v. Ini Bhd. Of Teamster162 U.S. 151, 1685 &

n.14(1983)). Because these components ‘amertwined; Jackson,1991 F. Supp. 2d at 81,

Plaintiffs must succeed on baith order to prevail.

13



In seeking summary judgmenGiant first contend thatby signing Separation and
Release AgreementBjaintiffs haveexpresshwaived their right t@sserthatthe company
violated theCBAs. Should its waiver argument fail to persuadeiant alsomaintains that itid
not breach the CBAs and that the Unions did not breach their duty of fair reptese The
Unions similarly argue that Plaintiffs cannot succeed on either prong of their hybrid claim.

The Courtfirst finds that the Agreements are valid dhdsrelease Giant from all cias
Plaintiffs raise against theompany. It next turns to the question of whethsrPlaintiffsassert
they may nevertheles$ring a standgilone claim against the Unioasd the viabilty of such a
claim

A. Waiver of Claims Against Giant

Giants first line of defense igs waiver argument: Ihsists that Plaintiffs waived their
right to bring anyclaim relating to their termination of employment with Giant, includimy a
breachof-CBA or hybrid claim, when thesigned theirSeparation and Release Agreersamth
the company in June 2012.

The Agreemerst offered to employee$considered for separation pursuant to the number
of positions available and the seniority process established in the @al&zrgaining
Agreements,’Acknowledgements at tequired that employees, in exchange for severance pay,
“fully release, waive, and forever discharge the Company, [and] adtatfilor related
companies .. . from any and all administrative claims, actioris, seibts, demands, damages,
claims, judgments, or liabilities of any nature, including costs &ndhays’ fees, whether
known or unknown, arising prior to tigfective Date of tls Agreement. Agreement{ 3. The
Agreement expressly noted thhis “General Releasapplied “whether or not the claims

ar[o]seout of your employment with or termination of employment fragmnt. Id.

14



These term$Giant insists, clearly cover the breadf-CBA claim which is basedrothe
companis layoffs and recalls that Plaintiffs beliewiblated the CBA The Agreements we
signed on June 28 or 29, 2012, depending on the Plaintiff, and their effet@gewkre eight
days after Plaintiffs signed thengeeid., 1 12(g). As the layoffs occurred on June 30, 20%2¢
id., 1 1, predatingthe effective dtesof the Agreemest Defendantdelieve any breach claims
are waived Plaintiffs do not dispute that if the waivers are valid, they are out of luck with
respect to theisuit against Giant. Instead, they rejoin that they were induced to sign the
Agreements byhe companys material msrepresentationand omissionsand that, accordingly,
the Agreements should be deemed \aidl unenforceahleSeeOpp (ECF No. 14) at 3940.

TheAgreementncludes a choicef-law provision instructing that “shall be governed
by the laws of the State of MarylaridAgreement 14. The parties agree that under Maryland

law, a release is a contracdeeOwenslll. , Inc. v. Cook 872 A.2d 969, 985Md. 2005); Parish

V. Md. & Va.Mik Producers Ass, 242 A.2d 512, 5559Md. 1968). Assuch, the construction

and interpretation of this release is governed by the Marjdamabf contracts“the cardinal
rule” of which“is toeffectuatehe intentions of the parti€s.Cook 872 A.2d at 985.

Asthe Court noted in its earlierpidion, seeJackson I, 991 F. Supp. 2d at 84;ontract
is voidable under Maryland law if signed in reliance upon a misrepresentdtioaterial fact by

a countesparty. SeeSnyder v. Herbert Greenbaum & Assgtnc. 380 A.2d 618, 621 (Md. Ct.

Spec. App. 1977)see alsdRestatement (Second) of Contracts § 164(1) (108fLa partys
manifestation of assentis induced by either a fraudulent or a matsraprasentation by the
other party upon which the recipient is justified in relying, the contracidsbe by the
recipient.”) Once a misrepresentation has been established, the question before the Court i

“whether the extraordinary powers of equity may be invoked to rescind the executadtcontr

15



because anor more of the misrepresentatiorsvhich the [Raintiffs] claim they relied or-

induced them to enter into the contrac®Volin v. Zenith Homes, In¢.146 A.2d197, 200 (Md.

1959).
Plaintiffs here contenthat the Agreemerd waiver is unenforceable at this stage of the
Itigation because there remagenuine issues of material fact
as to whether Gianmisrepresented (1) the termstbé separation
agreement- which insists $ic] included the option to choose the
opportunity to be placed on a snonth recall list over severance
pay — (2) the lack bavailable work, and (3) the slim chance of a
recal, (4) there were going to be future layoffs, (5) thigid was
not enough room oequipment for all the employees[,] (6) the
recycling buiding was shutting down, ()7ihe laid off membef§
jobs were gone and they would not be replaced andl {{8hnt do
not want you anymoré.
Opp.at 40.
Defendants rejoin, first, that all of these purpontepresentations, even if they daése
or misstatementsare notmaterialto the Agreemengnd secondhat the record establishes that
Giant never actually misrepresented anything to Plaintiffs in connectibntheitAgreement
SeeGiant Reply(ECF No. 158)at 614. The Court addresses each of these responses,in turn
rejecting the first but acceptinge second
1. Materiality
As to the first issuet is certainly true thabnly a“misrepresentation ahaterialfact by a
counterparty; if relied on by another party, can render the resulting contract voidaigerit
rescission SeeJackson,1991 F.Supp. 2d at 82The Court of Appeals of Marytal has
explained that typically‘reliance upon a misrepresentation of fact, intentionally misrepresented

or otherwise, is justifiable only if the fact misrepresentedatenal. A factis material if its

existence or nonexistence is a matter to which a reasonable man wouldnapiartdinice in

16



determining his choice of action in the transaction, or the maker of theoraseatation knows
that its recipient is likely to regard the fact as important althougkasonable man would not so

regard it! Carozza v. Peacock Land Corh88 A.2d 917, 921Md. 1963). Particularly where

“the misrepresentation is made without scienter or fraudulent intergtlethent of materiality
must be clearly established. Needless to say, the materiality of argdsnetation turns on the

facts of the particular caseChesapake Homes, Inc. v. McGratl240 A.2d 245, 250 (Md.

1968) (citation omitted) see also, e.gd. (holding, on those facts, thawvhat makes the

representation [regarding the identity of the property purchased] magemiatl the frequency
and confidence with which the assurances were made, but the knowledge om ah¢éhpar
appellants that the appellees both desiredeapdctedo receivé something under the contract
thatthey did not‘actually receive[] and without which the$would have been unwilg’ to

enter into the contragtfelma v. Gingell 146 A. 221, 221 (Md. 1929) (vendsrrepresentation

that first floor of building was rented to responsible tenant forye@ term was material
misrepresentation on which purchaser might rely in decidingjgn contract for sale of the
property)

Importantly, “[ a] representation which merely amounts to a statement of opinion,
judgment, or expectation, or is vague and indefinite in its nature and termsnerely a loose,
conjectural or exaggeratethteement, is not sufficient to support an actiéor rescission.Hall

v. Brown 94 A. 530, 531 (Md. 1915) (quotinBuschmanv. Codd 52 Md. 22, 207(1879); see

alsoid. (“[ P]rovided the statement is material and is not the mere expression of opinion, and
provided the purchaser relies upon it and is deceived, and the statement camoattes which
cannot be discovered by ordinary observation, . .. [e]ven an innocent misrepi@sentamay

avoid the contracl) (quotation marks and citation omitted).
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Keeping his standard in mind, the Coun¢lieves that theeries of‘misrepresentatiois
Plaintiffs havelisted really all go totwo separate issues. First, did Giant misrepriesenot
inform Plaintiffs that they hativo alternatives- namely, obtain severance or remain on the
recall list? Second, even if it explained these options, did Giant prasent that the likelihood
of a recall was slif Both of these issuesuld ke considered materiddlecause an employee
would want to know her options before signing the Agreement and because the dkelihao
recall could well dictate her decisidetweerthose options. The Court thus next lookeach
to see whether a jury ald conclude that Giant mda such representations and whethey
were in fact false.

2. Misrepresentatiome: Severance/s-Recall Choice

In response to Plaintiffgoosition that Giant misrepresented their choice between
receiving the severance payment and being placed on the rectiklispmpany offers tvo
primary counterargumentsFirst, the Agreement isclearinasmuch as iincludes a provision
expressly disavowing Plaintiffgights to rehire Second, Plaintiffscontentionthat Giantnever
told themabout the recalist alternativefails becauséhe undisputed evidengeveals that they
had actual knowledge dfieir optons

a. Terms of the Agreement

Giant begins with the terms of the Agreemenmhich, it maintains, are unambiguous.
The Agreement includes “Rehire’ provision, which states that, by signing the document,
employees‘hereby agree not to knowingly seek or accept employment, whether directly or
indirectly, with the Company, [Gianthr any of its operating companies or affiiates. You further
agree that your execution of this Agreement is good and sufficient cause f@ornpany and/or

its affilates to reject any application you make for employn@ntemployment Agreement,
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1 10(emphasis addedpPlaintiffs assert thdtinstructing [employees] that they cannot be rehired
is not the same as teling them that they cannot be recalled followingf&’' l@pp. at 45, but
the provisions express inclusion of both employment a@einployment demonstratethat

“Rehire¢’ was meant to include recal&eeEEOCvV. Beverage Canners, In897 F.2d 1067,

1069 n.4(11th Cir. 1990)(“The distinction drawn by the Company and adopted by the trial court
betweerrecall and‘rehire’ is at most legal fiction.We do not adopt this fictiof). In any
event, Plaintiffs also agreed not“eccept employmehtwith Giant. The Agreement is pellucid,
then, that themployees who sigmay not be recalled or otherwise seelaccepemployment
with Giant in the future.
b. Omissionof RecalList Option

Instead of focusingn the terms of the AgreemeRtlaintiffs principally arguehat Giant
omitted to tell them abouthe alternativeto signing the Agreemertnamely,the sixmonth recall
ist —which is not explicitly set forth ithe AgreementThere are three difficulties with
Plaintiffs’ position. Firstalthoughthe recall option wasot discussedh the Agreement,
Plaintiffs knew that by signing they woultbt be recalled. This wsthe thrust of section (a),
supra Secondas explained below in subsection (e recorddemonstrate that Plaintiffsdid
actually knowabout the recall option. Finalyas subsection (ijinfra, makes cleait is
undisputed that @nt clearly tld Plaintiffs' representativesi.e., the Unions—about thewo
choices.

i. Plaintiffs Personal Knowledge
Plaintiffs’ position that they did not understand the alternative to signing the Agreement

lacks concrete factual support in the recdviihst specifically their Opposition identifies only
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one Plaintiffs deposition that backs up their assertion thantitfai “were not advised of the
option to be placed on the six month recal’lisDpp. at 43.

Plaintiff Sharron Foster, a member of Local 730, testified thateatkeeting‘for the
people that was being laid dffa representative from Giast managment was present, as was
Ritchie Brooks, President of Local 730, who had participated ifettfiects bargainirig with
Giant on behalf of Local 730SeePl. Exh. 18 (ECF No. 144) (Deposition of Sharron Foster)
at 91:16. The Giant representative expid to the employees how they wotilik getting paid
for our severance pay, [based on] the years of service that [they] pahdihthat they would be
receiving “the separation agreeméntd. at 92:1219. Some employees asked questions, but
Foster statd that she could not recall either those questions or the answers Giart teve; t
she testified that shearit recall whether anyone asked about a rec&#e99:39. Foster
could not state with certainty that the employees were not advisedt atdhting, of the option
to be placed on the smonth recall list if they opted out of tleverance pay and chose not to
sign the Agreement. Instead, she testified only that the Giant refatse did not state whether
there would actually be a retat not—i.e., whether Giant would, in fact, need to recall
employees whose names were on thersirth recall list:

Q: ... InJune of 2012 [when you signed the Severance and
Release Agreement] did you know whether or not you had any re
call rights inyour Collective Bargaining Agreement?

A: No.

Q: You didnit know one way or the other?

A: That | knew | have real, no. Not at that time, no, |
didn't.

Q: Okay. At the time did you know what-call rights were?

A: Did | know what they were. Yote aking me do | know
what it mean?

Q: At the time did you know what it meant?

A: Re-call means | could be tealled to come backto work
if needed for me to be 1ealled.
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Q: But you didrt know whether you had a right to that or
not?

A: No, | didrit. | wasr't told that | had a rkeall right.

Q: And did you ask anybody?

A: At that time?

Q: Yes.

A: Well, in the break room they saidthey didint mention
anything about a reall.

Q: Okay.

A:That | canrecal. | can—

Q: One way or the other?

A: | wasrit recalled.

Q: Say that again.

A: I mean, you said one way or the other. |said | wasn
called.

Q: No, I'm saying at that meeting did he say anything one
way or the other about whether there would be-cal@

A: No, because he said it wasgoing tobe no more work
for us for a recal, so, no. . . .

Q: But did he say anything about acail?

A: He didrit tell us that there would be a-call. No, he
didn't.

Q: Did he tell you there would not be aaall?

A: He didrit tell us that there would kerecall

Q: My question was, did he tell you there would not be are
cal?

A: He didrit tell us that it would be a recal;, because if he
told us that there would be a-call, | wouldrit have signed that
form.

Q: I understand. Maybénrh not being clear You said he
didn't say there would be a-gll, right?

A: He didrit mention anything about a-call.

d: .Did anybody ask if there was acall?
A: | cant recall. It was questions. | camecall exactly
whether somebody asked whether thweas going to be a reall or
not.
Q: Did he talk about the possibility of a-call?
A: No.
Id. at 96:799. This confused colloquy is hardly enough to raise the specter of misreptiese
or omission by Giant, yet Plaintiffs ask the Court to conclude, based orotiés tiat Plaintiffs

were not aware that they were signing away their recall rights whgragteed to accept
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severance pay. Fosteitestimony, however, is not enough to create a dispute of matetjal fac
particularly given the countervaiing evidence in the record.

To begin, Defendants point the Court to the deposition of Ferline Buie, Presidetabf
922, in which she testified that she had a meeting with Union members on 2048,50
discuss the information she had beenmifiem Giants representatives during theffects
bargaining process.SeePl. Exh. 22 (ECF No. 148) (Deposttion of Ferline Buie) at 2611.
Buie testified that, although she did not officially take attendance ateléing, (it seems that
everybaly [from the Union] was there because | had the meeting at a time nvtiereshift
crossed over. In other words, the a.m. people would be getting off and the p.mwmdgbldoe
coming in. So all of them would be right there together. . . . [including émebers who worked
on the third, night shift who] were thefreld. at 26:1827:7. There, she said, think somebody
asked me should they sign the severance package. And | said to theridllcgmu to sign it.
| carit tell you not to sign it écause | dom know your condition. But what | will tell you is that
if you sign it you will not be eligible for a recél.ld. at41:27. This suggests thdtea Unions,
contrary to Plaintif§ suggestion, never sought to hide the ball as to the Agreeand its effect.

Similarly, the record indicates that Giant made substantial effofésriiarize Plaintiffs
with the Agreement and its terms. Keli Hal, Human Resources Manag&iant, stated that
she“met with the associaté$o be terminatedon an individual bas, with each meeting lasting
approximately ten minutes. The associates were informed that, §igred the Separation and
Release Agreement, then they would receive severance pay based on thewoflsegtite with
the Company, but if the associakeclined to sign the Separation Agreement then he or she

would be eligible to be placed on the recall list for potential réhidall Declaration, § 7.
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This testimony is bolstered by the sworn affidavit of Plaintiff DonchezeSoat member
of Local 92 who signed the AgreemerfieeDef. Exh. 25 (ECF No. 138) (Affidavit of
Donchez Coates). Coates recalled the meeting with Buie at which $direzkighat some of the
members of Local 922 would be laid offl. at 4. Later, he statetiThere was a @nt meeting
run by human resources . .. for the people who were being letdjat 5. The meeting was
run by“Kelli] Hall and another lady dim human resourcésand afterward Hall spoke
individually with each employee about the severance packdgdduring his conversation with
Hall, Coates had the following exchange:

When | went in the halway with Kelli] she went over some forms

with me. She told me that if | took a severance package, | would

lose the opportunity to be called back to work within six months. |

asked if there was a guarantee that | would be called back. She said

no. | asked if | don take the severance package, then I’'tget

the money, but | could be called back. .. . | whaliowed to give

her the signed severance agreement because she told me to take it

home and let someone else look atit. | had to wait three days to

give her back the signed severance agreement. | gave Kelli] the

signed severance agreement after the three days.
Id. Giant points to Coatésaffidavit in support of the proposition that the Compality explain
to members of the Unions that, among the various consequences of signing theceevera
agreement was the inability to be included on argixth recall list. SeeGiant Reply at 9.
Indeed,Plaintiffs agreethat Coates, and four other Plaintiffs, even attended a meeting with Giant
representatives on June 5, 2012, during the effects bargaining, in which therignplagdifs,
the separation agreemeandthe employeésrecall rights were disssed. SeePl. Resp. to
JSOF, %3.

At the end of the day, Fosterequivocal testimony is tlanly evidence in the record that

Plaintiffs cite in support of the notion that they did not know they would opt out of being on a

recall list by signing the greement.SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(3) (coutheed consider only the
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cited materialy. Thisis simply not enough to defeat summary judgmefithe mere existence
of someallegedfactual dispute between the parties wil not defeat an otherwise properl
supported motion for summary judgment; the requirement is that therege@uineissue of
materialfact” Anderson477 U.S. at 2448. The materiafjuestionhere is whetheGiant failed
to mention the recall optiprand nothing Plaintiffs have proffered creates a genuine dispute as to
that.
. Plaintiffs Knowledge Through Unions

Even if the above evidence were insufficiently cl@daintiffs cannot dispute that their
regesentativegthe Unions) were expressly told of the recall option. Indeegpearan the
Memorandumof UnderstandingGiant signed with each of the Unions on June 18, 2012. Those
MOUs memorialize the negotiations between Giant and the Unions aedistathe employees
who will be “separated from the company on JuneZ812. . . will have the option to collect
severance as specified . .. or elect to decline severance and be placed on tlist Rercéd)
months” Local 922 MOU;see alsd.ocal 730 MOU (same). It thus does not matter @iaht
“did not provide copies of the MOUs to the impacted associaR®sRespto JSOF, | 86.

According tothe company the arrangement made sense in f@tause the stnonth
list wasa componentf its understanding with thgnions and was not actually a term of the
Agreement itself. SeeGiant Reply at 8gssertinghatalthoughthe terms incorporated into the
MOUSs represent the agreement between the company and the UrijbesSeparation and
Release Agreements, in contrast, were solely between the indivithiatiff® and Giari).
Indeed,the Unions themselves wanted to be responsible for informing their membershabout
Agreement, including its alternativeSeeScott Dep. at 106:106 (explaining that Gians senior

management and the Unions decided, at the urging of the Unions, that it would ibéhbest
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Unions notify Giants employees of the 2012 {a§f, so that‘the communication c[a]me from
the Union to the associatg¢s Nothing n the record suggests that Giant directed the Unions to
misrepresento their membergitherthe nature of the Agreemeott the specifics of the
negotiations including the recalist option

In addition, while Plaintiffs insist that the Unionsever informedthem that signing hie
Agreement meant giving ugcall rights,seeOpp. at 43, any failure of tHgnions to
communicate details about their bargaining with Giant and the resultewydazannot bera
omission by Giant A plaintiff typically canna “make out a claim for rescission of a contract
based on misrepresentationnder Maryland law if Plaintiff's agent made the representation,

not the opposing party.Hsue Tung v. Peterlo. 09576, 2009 WL 5206627, at*3 (D. Md.

2009); cf. Chrysler Workers Ass v. Chrysler Corp.834 F.2d 573578, 58182 (6th Cir. 1987)

(holding, in case where Plaintiffs argued they did not know their recall rights were
extinguishetl as result of an agreement between their employer and their union resuttiagy i
transfer to new plants, thgtw]hether or not plaintiffs knew . .. of the terms of the preceding
June letter agreement, it was a valid, reasonable and binding agresteead into bythe
company]and the plaintiffs collective bargaiing representative . . .Plaintiffs undeniably had

the opportunity to ask the Union about their status as [company] emplojkere was no
‘affirmative’ act of concealmeri). In short,inasmuch aPlaintiffs maintain that they did not
understand #itthey hada choice between receiving severance pay upon termination or holding
out for the possibility of being rehired, they nesaccessfulyconnect that misunderstanding to

amisrepresentatioror omissionby Giant.
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3. Misrepresentation reSlimChance of Recall
The secondnaterialalleged misrepresentation tisat Giant told Plaintiffs that, should
they choose not to sign the Agreement, they would face only a slim chance afelosited
within the following sixmonth period. With regard to shissue, the dispute is not over whether
Giant so told Plaintiffs, but whether such representatasfaise
As a preliminary mattett is difficult to discern from Plaintiffsdisjointed briefings
precisely which representations mdyeGiant they bedive wee false. What is clear is that the
employees are convinced that what they were told, prior to signing the Agrseaigouthe
general‘lack of work for Union membersvas not correctFor instanceP laintiff Foster
testified that she was toldethierminations wer&ue to the lack of work; it wag&nenough room
in the warehouse for all of us .. .. And we really 'didrave any option whether we could be
laid off or not because it wasr it wasrit going to be enough work there for'us-oste Dep. at
91:2092:4. But thesstatemerst were made by a representative of the Union, not by Giant.
Plaintiff Coatesfor his partstated in his affidavit that Hmever asked [Giant HR representative
Kelli Hall if there was a lack of work. Coates Afidavit at 5.
Plaintiffs most clearly explain what they believe to be Gamtisrepresentatianin their
NLRB Chargs. There, they statetat
[c]omplainants[Plaintiffs] and others were told that there would be
no question and abstdly more future layoffs, thdGiant did not
want them anymoré they had better sign the agreement, there was
no more work for them to do, they should go look for other work,
among other things.
Reluctantly, the complainants signed the Giant severance
agreement under the belief that there was no more work in the

warehouses, there would be imminent future layoffs and that their
jobs were gone forever.
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However, in or about August 14, 2012, (approximately 6

weeks later), the complainants learned that. . . there ws®rnage
of work at the Giant Jessup Warehouse where they had worked; . . .
that Giant had hired back workers on July 1, 2012, the next day after
complainants were laid off; . thatGiant rehired at least 3 of the
union workers who had secret conversations with union leaders back
at the Jessup Warehouse and were secretly toldoneign the
severance agreement.

NLRB Chargsat 23.

Giant howevermaintains that its representations regarding the ladktwfe work for
Plaintiffs were entirely accuratdestimony from the compatsg/leadership establishes that the
layoffs were motivated by Gidst“reduced need for associdt@sits recycling facilties as a
result of the closure of the dgoods facilty formey operated by C&SSeeScottDep at
58:1015. In other words, Giast consolidation of the frestoodsrecycling facily with the
dry-goods recycling facility and thensuinggreater efficiency of its recycling operatiomgant
that there were fewgabs. The company, accordingiecided to terminatéventyof its
employees-including Plaintiffs. SeePounds Dep. at 45:345:16 (describing increased
efficiencies as a result of facilties consolidatioriPlaintiffs everadmit that“evidence in the
record shows that Giant over a period of more than 10 years has been trying taof#teout
‘distributionl business and to simply operate its retail storéd. Resp. to JSOF, .20n sum,
Plaintiffs have not pointed to evidence creating a jury eurests to whether the compamas
correct- in its assessmeat the time before the derecho structhat Plaintiffs jobs were no
longer needednd that Giantvould not need to recall workers to fil them

Plaintiffs instead citevidence thathey beleved theravas plenty of work for them to do
implying that Giant must therefore have known that a recall would be likedyweor inevitable

SeeOpp. at48PIl. Respto JSOF, 11 2833. On that point,however,the Court concurs with

Defendants thdf wlhether Plaintiffs believe that the Compasyudgment concerning the
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conduct of its operations was correctis wholly irreleVar@iant Reply at 20.For if Plairtiffs
simply hada different viewas to the amount of work availabdg the Jessup fatidis in June
2012 then what they posit is merely a differenceopinion not a misrepresentatiorDivergent
opinions, of course, do nobnstitute misrepresentatioasd cannot form the basis for a
rescission of an otherwise valid contraeeHall, 94 A.at531 No reasonable juror could
conclude, from Plaintiffstestimony, that Giantlid not believe, at the time it signed the
Agreements, that a recall was unlikely.

Giant admits that itlid bring on board new recycling personrevVia recalls and new
hires—after Plaintiffs were laid off SeeScott Depat 6566. But it explains that these positions
were motivated byhe derechoof June 302012, and caused @iato lose power to more than
seventyof its stores.Seeid. at 152:12153:67 (“Every available refrigerated trailer [at the
recycling facilities] needed to be cleaned or emptied and put into sesvaugckly as
possible’). Before that storm, Giant maintains that it did not authdheehiring of temporary
workers to perform work that laioff employees would have been performinigl. at 156:11
157:11. Plaintiffs, for their part, dispute the derecho theory of the new lpastjng to
testimony of Plaintiffs Jackson, Cherry, and Christopher indicating hgtdid not notice that
Giants operationsat the Jessup facilityvere affected after the storngee, e.g.PIl. Exh. 16 (ECF
No. 1437) (Deposition ofViliam Christopher) at 124:147 (“Q: Do you remember what was
going on atwork on the 30th of June 2012 as a result of the stariN®thing. We was
working.”). But testimony that operations at Jessup were not affected right amnaty is
inconsistent with Giat's statement that the power outages at its retail stores necessitated

increased use of the refrigerated trailers stored in Jessup.
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More important Plaintiffs cite nthing in the record supporting their assumptibat t
Giant used the derecho as an erdoshire new employees to tiee work that Plaintiffs had
been doing before their termination. In other words, Plaintiffs have offert&dmargument nor
evidence that this was a situation in which Giant mierggnted the amount of workniteded
donein order to hire cheaper€., less senior or patime) employees to perform work
previously performe by Plaintiffs. What isnore, if this had been such a situation, it would be
precisely the type of employer conduct to which Unions would typicalgcthere, however,
the Unions had no quarrel with the Severance and Release Agreementemasit?\hd the
crucial fact remains that GiastJuly 2012 hiresind rehires are not inconsistent with any
representationg made or implied at the timBlaintiffs signed their Agreements regarding the
slim chance of a future recaln short, Plaintiffs proffersare insufficient for a jury to determine
that a misrepresentation was made, as required for rescission ofrtemkgt. SeeParker v.

Prudentl Ins. Co. of Am., 900 F.2d 772, 777 (4th Cir. 1990).

In PlaintiffS Opposttion, thewlso seento argue that Giant misrepresented to them in
April 2012 that they were not at risk of termination, notwithstanding layoffs aoglelsewhere
in the companythen, only months later, Plaintiffs were, in fact, laid @eeOpp. at 43.But for
purposes of thdgreementrepresentations madeApri 2012 are irrelevant, as they had no
connection with the severance packadeisst, ‘[t is undisputed thatey [Plaintiffs] would
have been laidff whether they signed tH&eparatiorAgreements or not. The Agreements
simply provided money in exchange for a release of claim@ant Reply at 15. Secondplp
the representations Giant madelime2012 when Giant presented tiseparatiorAgreements
to Plaintiffs and when Plaintiffs agreed to sign them, are relevapufposes of a claim for

rescission of the AgreemenRlaintiffs could not justifiably rely on representations about Giant
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termination decisions that the companyade in Aprilwhere they differ from those made on the
same issu@ June at the timePlaintiffs were consiring whether to sign the Agreemenfee
Ryan v. Brady366 A.2d 745, 750Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1976)It is well esablished in Maryland
that to be entitled to this somewhat extraordinary relief [of rescisd a contract] there must be

proof of justifiable reliance on a material misrepresentdjiofciting Chesapeake Homes, Inc.

240 A.2d at 249)see alsavicCormick & Co. v. Childers, 468 F.2d 757, 766 (4th Cir. 1972)

(noting, where plaintiff sought to rescind contract based on materia@pmesentation, pursuant
to Maryland law, thafi]t is most important to ascertain, in the first place, whetherttitersent
was such that the party was justified in relying upon it, or was such, onhrehaind, that he
washoundto inquire and examine into its correctness himskifrespect to this alternative,
there is a broad distinction between statements of fact willy form a part of, or are
essentially connected with, the substance of the transaction, and regii@senthich are mere
expressions of opinion, hope, or expectations, or are mere general commefdgtoesation
marks and citation omitted)

Ultimately, thenno reasonable juror could find tHaiant misrepresented the situation
that at the time the Agreements were signed by the parties, there waastnang likelhood that
it would need to recall terminated employees withinnsbnths Ratherthan being misled by
Giant, Plaintiffsseem to b&xperiencing a classic case of bugeremorse, buf njeither a
party s subsequent dissatisfaction witieamtract, nor a party failure to read a contract are
adequate reasons for rescission of a contradsue Tung 2009 WL 5206627, at *3In fact,
muchof Giants conduct leading up to the signing of the Agreemetite effects bargaining
with Union representatives, the group and individual meetings with Plaittisplain the

Agreements, thd5-day periodto review the Agreements, tieday revocation period, the
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encouragement that Plaintiffs have a lawyer examine the Agreemerteapldih language of
the Agreement itseff reflectsa goodfaith attempt to give Plaintiffs a fampportunity to
considerthe terms of theseverance packagé. Plaintiffs, despite these efforts, still labored
under misunderstandings about the nature and effects of the Agreement,ssincle rstandings
are a unilateal mistake, not oniduced by a ngrepresentation. Anghder Maryland law;'a

unilateral mistake is ordinarily not a ground for relief from a contraCteamer v. Helferstay

448 A.2d 332 (Md. 1982)see alsddsue Tung 2009 WL 5206627, at *4nherea party to a

contract asserts“anisunderstanding of the contract and [a] view that his attéroewther
representativémade a mistake in signihgor encouraging him to sigtthe agreemeritsuch
assertionsare all unilateral mistakes and thus do not provide ground for rescission of the
contract?). Plaintiffs havethusfailed to establista dispute of fact from which a jury could
conclude that Giant induced them to sign the Agreements throatgrial misrepresentat&n
4. ADEA

For the first time in their Opposition, Plaintiffs argue that thevarain the Agreements
somehowviolated the Age Discrimination in Employment AGeeOpp. at 5661. They
concedehat the Agreement lists the ADEA as one of the statutes under whintifBlaclaims
against Giant are waived, biiey argue that the ADErequires that a waiver of rightse
knowing and voluntary and sets forth guidelines for how such voluntariness may be assessed.
Seeid. at51;see als®9 U.S.C. 626(f)(1). Becauseufoof the Plaintiffs— Mathis, Ward,
Christopher, and Fosterare over the age ¢brty, Plaintiffs believe they are covered by the
ADEA and did not knowingly and vattiarily waive their ADEA rights

This argument seems to misunderstand Gapobsition entirely.To begin, Plaintiffs

themselves acknowledge that tltky notallegeany claims under the ADEA in their Amended
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Complaint. SeeOpp. at 51 n.7 Giantarguesimply that therelease provisiorcovers the claims
that Plaintiffs did plead—viz., their hybrid sectiof301/fairrepresentation claim. It takes no
position as to the applicability of the Agreememwaiver provision as to any claims Plaintiffs
did notplead—including any they might have under the ADEA. Nor need the Court address that
issue, for the questioof whether the Agreemenbmplies with the requirements thie ADEA is
irrelevant in a case where ther@plaint does not state suchlaim
5. Failure to Revoke

As a final point Giant correctly underscorethat even ffit did misrepresent facts material
to the Agreemen® laintiffs arestill not entitled to rescissionMaryland law requires that parties
seeking rescissioof a contrachs a result of a misrepresentation invoke such a remedy or
otherwise attempt to revoke the contrgmomptly . .. once a party discovers facts which justify

it.” Cutler v. Sugarman Org., Ltd696 A.2d 105, 110 (Md. Ct. Spe&pp. 1991) Quotation

marksand citationomitted); see alsd=inch v. Hughes Aircraft Cp469 A.2d 867 (Md. 1984(*A

plaintiff seeking rescission must demonstrate that he acted promglydiattovery of the

ground for rescissiot). Maryland courts have held thét]escission equires at a minimum that

a party exercising a right to rescind notify the other party and demonstrate@nditional
wilingness to return to the other party both the consideration that was gidesing benefits
received. Cutler 596 A.2d afill Should a party seeking rescission fail*exercise [the right

to rescission] within a reasonable time, which is determinedyge Ipartby whether the period
has been long enough to result in prejutlidge,, a court many deny the relief sought. Further
“Maryland decisioris have found thatthere was a waiver of the right to rescind . . . on the basis
of an affirmative act of ratification of the contract or some other aictmdvidences an intent to

benefit from the transaction or which renders restoring the partiesrterigmal position
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impossible or difficult. Merritt v. Craig 746 A.2d 923, 928 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2006}

Benjamin v. Erk771 A.2d 1106, 1120 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 200)ithin days of discovering

thealleged fraud, appellees demanded rescission, asking to withdraw framnisectiory).

Here, Plaintiffs fied theitGroup Grievances in August ¢f012, not long after the
Agreements were signeat the end of JuneAs Giant noteshowever,“no Plainiff has ever
revoked, or attempted to revoke, their Separation Agreém@&idnt Reply at 15 (citindef.

JSOF 111114-116). Plaintiffs assert, withowutiting toany specific recad evidence, thdtsome
Plaintiffs testified and/or offered during thelepositions to return the money to get their jobs
back[via a recallland that had Giant offered them jobs back they would have gladly returned the
money. PIl. Resp. ta)SOF { 116. Crucially, they do not contend that they made any actual
attempts to reve the Agreemerdt any point before this litigation

Plaintiffs admit furthermore that “they did receive their separation paymeéntii.,

1 115. Tothe best of the Coud knowledge, all Plaintiffs retained such payments, without ever
attemping to repayGiant in exchange for being placed on armsonth recall list. Seg e.g, Def.
Exh. 6 (ECF No. 136) (Deposttion ofDonnaWard at 125:1820 (“Q: At any time did you

return that money to the company®. No sir”). And while some Plaintiffsndicated that they
would have liked to trade the severance pay they received for a recallesh padtiti Giant, see
Def. Exh. 5 (ECF No. 135) (Deposition of Ralph Jackspat 100:710, that suggestiohardly
constitutesan actual attempt at revocatiofihat Plaintiffs would have been amenable to
revocation does not mean that they took affirmative steps to revoke the Agteene would

the trade they describe be a tragocation othe Agreementsince Plaintiffs would only have
been placed on araklist had they not signed the Agreemehiey would not have been

recalled as a direct result of revocatiom sum Plaintiffs did not properly satisfyhe prompt
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revocation element of a claim for rescission under Maryland Bwg, therefore, is an
alternative ground on which Giant prevails.
* %

As Plaintiffs have failed to establish that a material misgapmation by Giant induced
them to sign the Agreements, the Court must conclude that they are bindingntifisPdai
including the provisio releasing Giant from any claims related to their employment or
termination. Based orthe undisputed material facts, the Court finds that Plaintiffs have waived
the claims they now seek to assagainst Giant. The companythereforejs entitled to judgment
as a matter of law, and the Court will grastMotion.

B. Hybrid Claim Against Unions

Although the Agreemets waiver provisionreleases Giant from any claims Pldiati
might have had against thermpany, it has no effect avhether they may sue the Uniond his
is because the AgreemisitComplete Release of Claimgrovision only states that signatories
release

the Company, all affiliated or related companies or subsidiaries,
their parents, predecessors, successors, andesdfifancluding but
not limited to Giant of Maryland LLC, Giant Food LLC, Ahold
USA, Inc., and Koninklijke Ahold N.V.), and with respectto each
entity, all of its shareholders, directors, officers, agents,naysr,
employees, representatives, assigns awahers, whether past,
present, or future (collectively, tH®eleased Parti&s
Agreement 3. As the Unionsare clearly not among tti®eleased Parti€sthe Court next
moves to the merits of the claim against those Defendants.
By way of reminder, Plaintiffsonly remaining cause of acti@gainst the Unions- the

hybrid sectior301/fairrepresentation clair requires them to provieoth that Giant breached

the CBAs by terminating Plaintiffs in June of 20&hd that the Unions breached their duty of
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fair representation when they negotiated the terminationsewverance agreements with the
company The Supreme Court has explained thatprevail against either the company or the
Union’ in a hybrid claim,*employeeplaintiffs mustnot only show that their discharge was
contrary to the [CBA] but must also carry the burden of demonstrating a breaci by doe
Union. . .. The employee may, if he chooses, sue one defendant and not tHaubthercase

he must prove is the samwbether he sues one, the other, or BobelCostello v. Intl Bhd. of

Teamsters462 U.S. 151, 1685 (1983)(alteration, quotation marks, and citation omitted)
In this case, the Court ultimately concludes that Plaintiffs cannotipoevtheir hybid
claim against the Unionsecausehe undisputed material facts show that Giant did not breach

the CBAs; it thus need not consider the-fapresentation issueSeeBurnett v.Wash.Metro.

Area Transit Auth.139 F. Supp. 3d 231, 236 (D.D.C. 20L%)'lhe absence of a genuine

guestion of material fact in the defendarss/or on either prong is fatal to [Plaintiffsentire
[hybrid] claim.”). It bears noting that this merits determinatieniz., that Plaintfs have failed
to establish half of their hybrid clairalso serves as a separate basis to grant’ Sisfution.
For even in the absence of any waiver, Plaintiffs cannot prevail agzangt on a hybrid claim
where they cannatatisfyone of its two pongs.

To establish the CBAreach component of their hybrid claiflaintiffs assert that Giant
violated itsCBAswith the Unionsby (1) terminating PlaintiffsS'when there was work to
perforni; (2) conducting layoffs without regard to seniority) 8calng former employees
without regard to seniority; J4aiing to recall Plaintiffsor put them on notice of such rec&8)
authorizing supervisors to perform Union membeverk; and (6) authorizing nednion
workers to perform Union membémgork. SeeOpp. 6671. The Court examines each of these

alleged breaches separately.
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As to the first the Court has already explained thila¢re is namaterialdispute that
Giants decision to terminate Plaintiffs was, in fact, the result of sedserin work. Plaintiffs do
not disagree-nor could they- that Giant“retained the entrepreneurial right to consolidate its
recycling operations and lay off the doyees as a result of the expected gained efficiehcies,

notwithstanding the CBAsSeeGiant Reply at 18see alsd-irst Natl Maintenance Corp V.

NLRB, 452 U.S. 666, 686 (1981) (NLRA does not require employer to bargain with “imion
deciding whether tghut down part of its business purely for economic re&sohsleed, none
of the provisions of the CBAs cited by Plaintiffs suggeisat Giant was somehow bound not to
consolidate recycling facilties and terminate redundant employees, rioeydsetforth
guidelines for such terminationgCompareOpp. at 6667 (arguing thatGiant breached Articles
VII, X, XIV of Local 922's CBA and Articles 1, 15, 15.3F, [15.3]G(3), 22 of Lo¢ad’s CBA in
caling a layoff due to lack of wotlk with Def. Exh. 11 (EEF No. 1321) (Local 922 CBA) at 5
(Article VII, “Seniority), 9 (Article X, “Grievances and Arbitrati®y) 10 (Article XIV, “Work
Week and Overtinig; andDef. Exh. 10 (ECF No. 1310) (Local 730 CBA) at 4 (Article 1,
“Supervisory Personrigl 11-12 (Articles 15, 15.3F, 15.3G(3)Seniority’), 16 (Article 22,
“Grievances and Arbitratioh Giant thus did not breach the CBAs by laying off workers as
result of the consolidation of its facilties.

Nor did the company violate the CBAs by conducting layoffs without regard to seniority
belying PlaintiffS second asserted breach. To be sure, both CBAs require that seniorély play
role in determining layoffsSeelLocal 730 CBA at 1112 (Article 15.3A “Seniority alone will
govern in layoffs . . . provided the employee with seniority is capable offeitiorming the
job”); see alsd.ocal 922 CBA at 5 (Article VII.2;The principle of seniority shall apply in all

cases of decrease or increase of theking forces, provided the employees have the ability to
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do the workin a satisfactory manngr The only evidence Plaintiffs marshal in support of their
claim that Giant breached these provisiohsweverjs an inconclusive suggestion that Curtis
Pumpiiey, a member of Local 730 but not a Plaintiff, should not have been laicheffGloria
Royster, over whom he purportedly had seniority, was allowed to keep he&@ge®pp. at 67

68. Given that Pumphrey is not a Plaintiff and that Plaintiffs thessedve unsure of his
seniority dateseeid. at 68, this is hardly enough to create a factual dispute as tosGamduct
particularly where there isountervailng evidence that Giantlid compy with the seniority rules
Cf. Pl. Exh. 62 (ECF No. B412) (“Job Titles and Ages of Giant Recycling Facility Employees
Selected for Separatignat 1 (noting that employees listédere considered for separation
pursuant to the number of positions available and the seniority process hesdaihlishe
Collectve Bargaining Agreements between Local-43Qocal 922 and the Compdiny These
are hardly*specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue fof ti@tlotex 477 U.S. at
324 (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e))

Skipping the third allegation foréhmoment, Plaintiffsfourth pointthat Giants “failure”
to recallthembreached the CBAs is similarly dead on arriv@here is no dispute, as the
foregoing analysis elucidates, that they opted out of any rights to rehire thatigie have had
underthe CBAs by signing their Separation and Release Agreements and acseptrgnce
payment insteadFor the same reasdplaintiffs assertion that Giamevernotified them of a
recall occurring after their termination and their decision to opt oudiieofetall list is equally
unavailing

Plaintiffs remaining three asserted breaches of the EBhich they number (3), (5),
and (6)—all fail because they were not included in their Group Grievaide. Grievance

claimedthat Giant“ilegally and wrogfully terminated and discharge®laintiffs “under false
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pretenses . . . and misrepresentations that allegedly there was nwariore . , that the
company was getting ready to have morediy, that there was no room or work spa@and
allegedthat“Giant also violated the contract/CBA and other laws through deceit and
fraudulently inducing these . . . former Giant employees into wrongfuly ngaivieir rights,
privieges and claims against it under false pretehsesf. Exh. 41 (ECF No. 132) (Aug. 16,
2012, Group Grievance) at o grievance about seniorbased recalls or authorizing
supervisorsor norUnion membergo perform workappears.

As the Supreme Court has explainét:has long been established that an individual
employee mayring suit against his employer for breach of a collective bargaining agmeeme
Ordinarily, however, an employee is required to attempt to exhaust any geesaarbitration
remedies provided in the collective bargaining agreefnddlCostellp 462 US. at163

(internal citations omitte¢l)see alsdaigle v. Gulf State Utils. Co., Local Union No. 228®4

F.2d 974, 977 (5th Cir. 198§)If the arbitrdion and grievance proceduretliige exclusive and
final remedy for breach of the collective bargaining agreement, the empi@e@ot sue his
employer undeg 301 until he has exhausted the procedyre.

An exception may exist whetée union representing the employee in the
grievancéarbitration procedure acts in such a discriminatory, dishonest, grbiraperfunctory
fashion asto breachits duty of fair representatidd€lCostellp 462 U.S. at 164That is not
the case heréWhile Plaintiffs maybelieve the Unions did not 8iently prosecute the
Grievance actually filed, they offer no evidence or argument that the Umpnsperly failed to
include in such Grievancéhe three aforementioned issues. Once again, the heart of their
Grievance (and this suit) relates to thteimination, not about who performed Unimembers’

work.
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In sum, none of Plaintiffsallegations concerning Gians purported breach tie CBAs
leavesthe starting gatehushobbling their abilty to put their hybrid claim in the running against
the Unions —or, for that matter, against GianAs the employees are unable to establish one of
the requisite halves of their claim against thaobly the Court wil grant those Defendants
Motions for Summary Judgmeas well.

V.  Conclusion

For the foregoingeasons, the Court will gra@iant, Local 922, and LocaB0’s

separatd/iotions for Summary Judgmeaid enter judgment in Defenddrfesvor. A

contemporaneous r@er to that effect will issue this day.

Isl James E. Boasberg
JAMES E. BOASBERG
United States District Judge

Date: September 1, 2016
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